IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GAPP reg FILED SID J. WHITE SEP 23 1996

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CLERK, OUPREME COURT

Petitioner,

v.

Æ

FSC Case No. 88,076

JEFFREY ALLEN HUNTER,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0014087
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "Petitioner." Respondent, Jeffrey Allen Hunter, will be referred to as "Respondent." Citations to the record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol (R) followed by the appropriate page number(s). Citations to the transcript of the trial will be referred to by the symbol (T) followed by the appropriate page number(s). The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal is reported at <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D900 (Fla. 2d DCA Apr. 12, 1996).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Respondent by Amended Information with two counts of armed burglary in violation of section 810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes, two counts of attempted first degree murder in violation of sections 777.04 and 782.04, Florida Statutes, one count of grand theft (a handgun and other personal property) in violation of section 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes, one count of aggravated battery in violation of section 784.045, Florida Statutes, one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in violation of section 790.23, Florida Statutes, and one count of shooting within a private building in violation of section 790.19, Florida Statutes. (R.22-28). All of the offenses were alleged to have been committed between February 9 and 10, 1994. (R.22-28).

Respondent's counsel moved to sever the count charging Respondent with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R.29-30). The trial court granted Respondent's motion and severed Count Eight of the Amended Information. (R.33-35). The State subsequently nolle prossed this count. (R.147). A jury trial was held on July 11-13, 1994, on the remaining counts of the Amended Information.

As to Counts One and Four of the Amended Information, the

jury found Respondent guilty of burglary of a dwelling and specifically found that Respondent "was armed or armed himself with a firearm in the course of the offense." (R.37, 40; T.416-417). On Count Two, the jury found Respondent guilty of "Grand Theft of property, including a firearm." (R.38; T.417). The jury also returned guilty verdicts on the charges of shooting within a private building, aggravated battery, and two counts of attempted murder in the second degree. (R.37-43; T.417-418).

On November 17, 1994, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing and adjudicated Respondent guilty on all seven counts. (R.80-120, 123). The court sentenced Respondent as a habitual violent felony offender on all counts. (R.110-114, 133-139). As to Count One, the court sentenced Respondent to life imprisonment with a 15 year minimum mandatory and a concurrent 3 year minimum mandatory for the use of a firearm. (R.112, 126, 133). On Count Two, the court imposed a 10 year sentence with a 5 year minimum mandatory to run concurrent to the sentence for Count One. (R.112, 127, 134). The court imposed a 30 year sentence with a 10 year minimum mandatory for Count Three to run concurrent with the sentences for Counts One and Two. (R.112-113, 129, 135). Respondent received a life sentence with a 15 year minimum mandatory and a concurrent 3 year minimum mandatory for the use

of a firearm on Count Four, the sentence running consecutive to the sentences imposed on Count One, Two, and Three. (R.113, 129, 136). On Count Five, the court imposed a 30 year sentence with a 10 year minimum mandatory and a concurrent 3 year minimum mandatory for the use of the firearm to run concurrent with the sentence for Count Four, but consecutive to the sentences for Counts One, Two, and Three. (R.113, 130, 137). A 30 year sentence with a 10 year minimum mandatory and a concurrent 3 year minimum mandatory for the use of a firearm was imposed for Count Six to run concurrent with the sentences for Counts Four and Five, but consecutive to Counts One, Two, and Three. (R.113, 131, 138). The court also imposed a 30 year sentence with a 10 year minimum mandatory and a concurrent 3 year minimum mandatory for the use of a firearm on Count Seven to run concurrent with the sentences for Counts Four, Five, and Six, but consecutive to the sentences imposed on Counts One, Two, and Three. (R.113-114, 132, 139).

Respondent filed his Notice of Appeal on December 7, 1994. (R.148). The Second District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on April 12, 1996, vacating Respondent's grand theft of a firearm conviction based on double jeopardy. On or about April 15, 1996, Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing or Certification, which

was subsequently denied by the Second District Court of Appeal. On or about May 16, 1996, Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction on August 27, 1996.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jacqueline Hardy lived with her cousin, Terry Hardy, and Terry's boyfriend and daughter. (T.129-132; 169). During that time, Jacqueline Hardy had a relationship with Respondent. (T.131-132; 168-170). Respondent did not officially live at Terry Hardy's home, but according to Terry Hardy, "he was always there." (T.132).

Terry Hardy's boyfriend, James Poe, kept a loaded gun in Terry Hardy's bedroom for their family's protection. (T.158-159). Respondent knew where the gun was kept. (T.159). On one occasion, Mr. Poe retrieved the gun in Respondent's presence and went outside to check on a suspicious noise. (T.139-140).

On February 1, 1994, Jacqueline and Respondent had an argument that resulted in the termination of their relationship. (T.170). During their argument, Respondent beat Jacqueline and threatened to kill her. (T.170-171). A couple of days later, Jacqueline moved from her cousin's house and went to live with her brother and her twin sister. (R.173). From the night of the beating, February 1, until February 9, Jacqueline did not have any contact with Respondent. (T.172).

After Jacqueline and Respondent broke up, Respondent called Terry Hardy in an attempt to speak with Jacqueline. (T.134-136).

Respondent became mad at Terry Hardy and told her that "he was going to get [her]." (T.135). Respondent told Terry Hardy that "if he couldn't get [her], he would get what [she] loved the most," her daughter. (T.135-136).

On February 9, 1994, Terry Hardy got off from work around midnight and went to pick up her eight-year-old daughter. (T.137-138). Terry arrived at her home around 12:30 or a quarter of 1:00. (T.138). Terry noticed her bedroom light on and noticed that the screen and framing of a window were removed. (T.138). Terry went and found a policeman and returned to her home. (T.138-139). After the police entered the home, Terry and her boyfriend went inside and noticed that their gun and some clothing were missing. (T.139). Later that same night, Terry's daughter showed her mother a shell casing she found in her room and bullet holes in her bed and her pillow. (T.144-145).

During the late hours of February 9 and early hours of February 10, Jacqueline and her sister, Gwendolyn, arrived at her brother's house. (T.173-174). As Jacqueline was putting the key into the door, she heard a rumbling and saw Respondent jumping over a fence coming towards her. (T.174-175). Respondent approached Jacqueline with a gun pointed at her and struck her in the eye with the gun. (T.175). Respondent continued to beat

Jacqueline with his fists while she and her sister tried to get inside the house. (T.176-177). Respondent placed the gun to Jacqueline's temple and threatened to kill her. (T.177). Jacqueline managed to get away from Respondent and run inside the house with her sister. (T.178).

While Jacqueline and her sister were standing behind the door, Respondent fired two shots through the door. (T.179). One of the bullets struck Jacqueline's sister in the leg. (T.179). Respondent crawled through a window and fired another shot when he was inside the house. (T.180). Jacqueline and her sister ran from the house and Respondent caught Jacqueline from behind and tackled her to the ground. (T.184-185). Respondent beat Jacqueline in the head with his fists. (T.185). Eventually, the police arrived at the scene and arrested Respondent. (T.186; 240-244).

The police searched the area and found a small black handgun approximately two feet from where Respondent had been arrested. (T.244). The gun was identified by Terry Hardy as the gun stolen from her residence. (T.141). The officers also found a .22 caliber bullet in Respondent's front pocket. (T.250). The officers searched Jacqueline's sister's residence and found several spent shell casings and one live cartridge in the carport

near the door, and one spent casing inside the residence. (T.256).

Crime Scene Technician Tracy Grice testified that she found a bag of clothing under the window of the house where Respondent had entered Jacqueline's sister's residence. (T.261-262). These items were identified by Terry Hardy as the clothing stolen from her residence. (T.141-142). After Ms. Grice processed the scene at that residence, she proceeded to Terry Hardy's residence to process that crime scene. (T.274). She collected a shell casing and photographed a hole in the bed and pillowcases. (T.274-275).

Respondent testified that he did have a fight with Jacqueline Hardy, but that she had struck him first. (T.289). He also testified that he saw Jacqueline and Gwendolyn Hardy on February 9, 1994, at a laundromat, and they told him he could stop by their house if he needed a ride. (T.290-291). Respondent testified that he walked over to their house and the two women were under the carport and an argument broke out. (T.291-292). According to Respondent, Jacqueline Hardy had the firearm and was trying to load it when a bullet fell out. (T.292). Respondent testified that he then struck Jacqueline, and while they were struggling, the gun accidentally went off, striking Gwendolyn. (T.293-294). Respondent then broke into the

house and chased the women, all the while, Jacqueline had the gun in her possession. (T.294). Respondent testified that he chased the women and tripped Jacqueline in the field and hit her because he was mad at her for trying to shoot at him. (T.294).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal erred when it vacated Respondent's grand theft of a firearm conviction. The court held that double jeopardy bars conviction for armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm when the act of stealing the firearm converts the burglary into an armed burglary.

An examination of the statutory elements demonstrates that each of the offenses requires proof of different elements in order to sustain a conviction. Proving a violation of one of the offenses does not necessarily prove a violation of the other offense. The fact that the theft of a firearm converted the burglary into an armed burglary in this case does not bar dual convictions because such a determination could not be made without an examination of the facts alleged in the information and adduced at trial. Section 775.02(4)(a), Florida Statutes, states that offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's ruling that double jeopardy bars dual convictions for grand theft of a firearm and armed burglary.

ARGUMENT

MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES FOR ARMED BURGLARY AND GRAND THEFT OF A FIREARM DO NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY WHERE THE THEFT OF THE FIREARM PROVIDES THE BASIS FOR THE ARMED BURGLARY CONVICTION.

The State charged Respondent by an amended information with, *inter alia*, two counts of armed burglary in violation of section 810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes, and one count of grand theft of a firearm in violation of section 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes.

The testimony at trial established that Respondent broke into Terry Hardy's house and stole some clothing and a loaded .22 caliber handgun. Respondent then went to find his ex-girlfriend at her sister's residence. When he arrived at that house, he approached his ex-girlfriend, Jacqueline Hardy, and struck her in the face with the firearm. Jacqueline and her sister managed to get inside the house and shut the door on the Respondent. Respondent shot through the door striking Jacqueline's sister in her leg. Respondent then broke a window out of the house and entered the house and fired another shot at the women. The women escaped the house, and Respondent tracked them down in an adjacent field and tackled Jacqueline Hardy and began to beat her. At that point, the police arrived and arrested Respondent. Terry Hardy's stolen gun was found only a few feet from where

Respondent was arrested.

On appeal to the Second District Court, Respondent argued, inter alia, that his convictions for armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm violated double jeopardy because the burglary was enhanced to armed burglary based on the theft of the firearm. The Second District held that double jeopardy bars conviction for both offenses when the act of stealing the firearm converts the burglary into an armed burglary. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D900, 900 (Fla. 2d DCA Apr.12, 1996) (citing <u>Marrow v.</u> <u>State</u>, 656 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 664 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1995) and <u>State v. Stearns</u>, 645 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1994)). The Second District's holding directly and expressly conflicts with the recent decision of <u>Gaber v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), <u>review granted</u>, (FSC Case No. 86,990).

In <u>Gaber</u>, the First District Court of Appeal thoroughly examined the statutory elements of each of the offenses and held that armed burglary is a completely separate offense from grand theft of a firearm. <u>Gaber</u>, 662 So. 2d at 424. Each of the offenses requires proof of an element that the other does not. <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, the offenses must be considered separate for double jeopardy purposes. <u>See</u> § 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1995) (stating that offenses are separate "if each offense requires

proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial").

Petitioner submits that armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm are entirely separate and distinct offenses, and convictions for both do not violate double jeopardy. Respondent was convicted of two counts of armed burglary pursuant to section 810.02(2)(b), Florida Statutes, and one count of grand theft of a firearm pursuant to section 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes. Section 810.02 provides in relevant part:

(1) "Burglary" means entering or remaining in a dwelling, a structure, or a conveyance with the intent to commit an offense therein, . . .

(2) Burglary is a felony in the first degree, . .. if in the course of committing the offense, the offender:

(b) Is or becomes armed within such dwelling, structure, or conveyance, with explosives or a dangerous weapon.

§ 810.02, Fla. Stat. (1995). By its plain language, a conviction for burglary requires the State to prove that the offender entered into a structure with the intent to commit an offense therein. The offense is reclassified to a first degree felony if in the course of committing the burglary, the offender is armed or arms himself once inside the structure.

Florida's theft statute, section 812.014, provides in

relevant part:

(1) A person commits theft if he knowingly obtains or uses, or endeavors to obtain or use, the property of another with intent to, either temporarily or permanently:

(a) Deprive the other person of a right to the property or a benefit therefrom.

(b) Appropriate the property to his own use or the use of any person not entitled thereto.

(2)

(c) It is grand theft of the third degree and a felony of the third degree, . . ., if the property stolen is:

5. A firearm.

. . . .

§ 812.014, Fla. Stat. (1995). In order to sustain a conviction under Florida's grand theft statute, the State must establish that the offender obtained or used, or attempted to obtain or use, the property of another with the intent to either temporarily or permanently deprive the owner of the use of, or benefit from, the property.

In comparing the two statutes and the elements necessary to sustain a conviction, it is apparent that these two statutes are entirely different and require proof of different and distinct elements. The armed burglary statute requires proof that the offender was armed, or armed himself, when he entered a structure. The plain language of the statute does not require that the offender commit a theft, or have the intent to commit a

theft. Additionally, it does not require that the weapon involved be a firearm.

Florida's theft statute, on the other hand, requires that the State establish a taking with the intent to temporarily or permanently deprive. Obviously, a theft can be committed without also committing a burglary. Furthermore, the grand theft statute does not require "that the object of the theft necessarily be a firearm." <u>Gaber v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 423, 423 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), <u>review granted</u>, (FSC Case No. 86,990).

For these reasons, the court in <u>Gaber</u> correctly found that the offenses required proof of different elements and did not violate double jeopardy. <u>Id.</u> at 424. The court stated that in this type of situation, the offender is being punished for taking the weapon with the intent to deprive, not for just the possession of the weapon. <u>Id.</u>

The fact that Respondent committed a burglary and stole a firearm does not prevent a court from imposing separate convictions and sentences. Respondent was being punished under the grand theft of a firearm statute for the theft of the weapon with the intent to deprive, not for the possession of the weapon. Under the armed burglary statute, Respondent was punished for the separate and distinct offense of entering into a structure with

the intent to commit an offense therein while armed or while arming himself with a dangerous weapon.

Section 775.02(4)(a), Florida Statutes, states that offenses are separate and if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial. Disregarding the accusatory pleadings and testimony at trial, it is clear that the armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm statutes require proof of different elements. Based on the differences in the elements of the crimes, Petitioner submits that the Second District Court of Appeal erred when it vacated Respondent's grand theft of a firearm conviction on double jeopardy grounds.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments, and citations of authority, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion vacating Respondent's grand theft of a firearm conviction.