:

:

:

2

:

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, vs. JEFFREY A. HUNTER, Respondent. FILED STOL WHITE OCT 14 1996

Case No. 88,076

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Double jeopardy bars conviction for both armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm where the act of stealing a firearm converts the burglary into an armed burglary conviction. The vacation of the conviction by the Second District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

The trial court improperly allowed an exception to the The trial court allowed a State's sequestration of witnesses. witness to remain in the courtroom during the testimony of another State's witness (her daughter), despite protestations from the defense that the mother's presence might have an influence on the testimony of the daughter and with no reasons asserted as to why the mother's presence was required. The trial court erred by failing to conduct a hearing to determine whether the witness' exclusion from the sequestration rule would result in prejudice to The defense assertions of prejudice relate to Hunter. Mr. credibility determinations that were crucial in this case. The trial court's abuse of discretion in allowing the witness to remain in the court room and his failure to hold a hearing on this matter require reversal for a new trial.

The trial court erred in granting the State's motion in limine which prevented the defense from establishing that State's witness and alleged victim Gwendolyn Hardy had been arrested for aggravated battery of her boyfriend earlier on the evening of the incident. The excluded testimony was relevant to give the jury the complete picture of the entire inseparable course of events. The excluded

testimony was relevant to Appellant's account of the incident and could have provided corroboration to his testimony about the invitation he received to visit the alleged victims and how that visit turned into an argument. The relevance of this evidence outweighed the prejudice.

The trial court erred in imposing consecutive habitual offender sentences for offenses that occurred in one criminal episode or continuous course of conduct. The consecutive habitual offender sentences should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES DOUBLE JEOPARDY BAR THE CONVIC-TION FOR BOTH ARMED BURGLARY AND GRAND THEFT OF A FIREARM WHERE THE ACT OF STEALING THE FIREARM CONVERTS THE BURGLARY INTO AN ARMED BURGLARY? (Restated by Respondent¹)

The Second District Court of Appeal discharged Mr. Hunter's grand theft conviction. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D900 (Fla. 2d DCA April 12, 1996). The court held that "Double jeopardy bars conviction for armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm when, as here, the act of stealing the firearm converts the burglary into an armed burglary." <u>Id.</u> The Court relied on <u>Marrow v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review denied</u> 664 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1995).

In <u>Marrow</u>, 656 So. 2d at 579, the First District Court of Appeal held, "Double jeopardy however bars convicting Marrow of both armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm, where the single act of stealing a firearm is the act which converts his burglary into an armed burglary."

Both Courts relied on <u>State v. Stearns</u>, 645 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1994), in which this Court reviewed <u>Stearns v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). Stearns entered a guilty plea to armed burglary, grand theft, and carrying a concealed weapon while

¹ Restated by Respondent as stated originally as Issue IV of Respondents Initial Brief on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal.

committing a felony. <u>Stearns v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d at 255. The issue on appeal was "whether a defendant who commits armed burglary of a structure, grand theft of property found therein, can also be convicted of carrying a concealed weapon." <u>Id.</u> The conviction and sentence for carrying a concealed weapon while committing a felony was reversed. <u>Id.</u>²

This Court approved the decision below, stating, "armed burglary is a continuing offense," a defendant cannot "be sentenced for two crimes involving a firearm that arose out of the same criminal episode," "therefore, double jeopardy bars the State from convicting and sentencing Stearns for two offenses involving a firearm that arose out of the same criminal episode". <u>State v.</u> <u>Stearns</u>, 645 So. 2d at 418.

In the case at hand, the grand theft charge involved a hand gun and other personal property (R2-6). No value was established for the items at trial. During charge conferences, the trial court stated the verdict form required a finding of theft of a firearm to support a conviction for grand theft (T209-210, 327-328). The jury instruction and the verdict form provided for grand theft to be based on finding proof of the theft of a firearm and not through a finding proof of sufficient value (T387, 408).

The State argues double jeopardy was not violated, relying on <u>Gaber v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2492 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 8, 1995).

² The precise issue in the instant case was not presented in <u>Stearns</u>. Stearns was convicted of grand theft of property found in a structure he burgled, not of grand theft premised on theft of a firearm.

The <u>Gaber</u> court held "that armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm are completely separate offenses, and the appellant's convictions for both offenses do not violate double jeopardy." <u>Gaber</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D2492. The <u>Gaber</u> court also held:

Clearly, if you commit a burglary, and while committing that burglary you steal the original manuscript of Gabriel Garcia Marquez' Love in the Time of Cholera, then you can be convicted of burglary and grand theft. It logically flows that if you commit a burglary, and while committing that burglary you steal a fire arm, then you can be convicted of armed burglary and grand theft.

<u>Id.</u> at 423. There is no logic to this analogy. The burglary of a valuable manuscript does not lead to enhancement of burglary to armed burglary and would presumably establish value for grand theft without relying on the alternative method of establishing grand theft through proof of theft of a firearm. The <u>Gaber</u> opinion is inconsistent with this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Stearns</u>, 645 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1994).

Mr. Hunter was convicted of both armed burglary and grand theft of a firearm which occurred in the course of one criminal transaction or episode. Both offenses were enhanced through the same firearm in the same episode. The theft of a firearm is the basis for the <u>armed</u> burglary conviction and the firearm was the basis for the <u>grand</u> theft conviction, which results in cumulative punishment for the use of the firearm. <u>See Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991) ("when a robbery conviction is enhanced because of the use of a firearm in committing the robbery, the single act involving the use of the same firearm in the commission

of the same robbery cannot form the basis of a separate conviction and sentence for the use of a firearm while committing a felon"). The Second District Court of Appeal's finding that double jeopardy was violated should be affirmed.

÷

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING AN EXCEPTION TO THE SEQUESTRATION OF WITNESSES³?

Generally, once the witness sequestration rule has been invoked, a trial court should not permit a witness to remain in the courtroom during proceedings when he or she is not on the witness stand. <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 186, 191-92 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 907, 105 S.Ct. 3533, 87 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1985); <u>Goodman v. West Coast Brace & Limb, Inc.</u>, 580 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

A jury trial was held on July 11-13, 1994 (T1-423). A jury was selected on July 11, 1994 (T1-103). At the onset of the jury trial, defense counsel requested that the witnesses be sequestered (T112). The trial court agreed (T112). After Terry Hardy testified for the State, the prosecutor requested that she be allowed to remain in the courtroom while her eight-year-old daughter, Antricia Holmes testified for the State (T152). No reason was articulated in support of this request. Defense counsel

³ This issue was originally presented as Issue I of Respondents Initial Brief on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal. The State sought, and was granted, review of this case based upon conflict with another district court of appeal on the preceding issue. This issue, and the ones that follow, were affirmed without discussion.

This Court may consider these issues. <u>Kennedy v. Kennedy</u>, 303 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1974) ("In acquiring jurisdiction of a case, our Court has appropriate authority to dispose of all contested issues."); <u>Atlas Properties, Inc. v. Didich</u>, 226 So. 2d 684, 685 (Fla. 1969) (Florida Supreme Court has the power "to explore the entire record to see if the proper result has been reached in both the trial and District Courts.").

objected that there was insufficient predicate submitted for the request (T152). Defense counsel also objected because he was concerned that the child might be influenced by her mother sitting there (T152). Despite the sequestration ruling and over defense objection, the trial court allowed Terry Hardy to sit in the courtroom while Antricia Holmes testified for the State (T152-153).

"When it is shown that the presence will not harm the party requesting exclusion and it is shown that it will be beneficial to the opposing party to have the witness available to give advice and information, it is within the trial court's discretion to allow the witness to remain." <u>Goodman</u>, 580 So. 2d at 195. No reason was asserted on the record as to why it was beneficial to have Terry Hardy remain in the courtroom. It was error to permit the witness to remain in the courtroom with no showing of benefit to be derived from her presence. The defense assertions that Terry Hardy's presence in the room would have an influence on the testimony of Antricia should not have been dismissed without further inquiry. The trial court abused its discretion to allow the witness to remain in the courtroom.

> In our opinion a trial court should not, as a matter of course, permit a witness to remain in the courtroom during the trial when he or she is not on the stand, unless it is shown that it is necessary for the witness to assist counsel in trial and that no prejudice will result to the accused. A hearing to determine these matters should be conducted if the rule excluding and sequestering witnesses has been invoked.

<u>Randolph</u>, 463 So.2d 186, 191-192 (Fla. 1988); <u>Gore v. State</u>, 599 So. 2d 978, 986 (Fla. 1992) ("Of course, should the witness'

presence cause some prejudice to the accused, the witness should not be allowed to remain in the courtroom. Where the rule has been invoked, a hearing should be conducted to determine whether a witness' exclusion from the rule will result in prejudice to the accused."); Thomas v. State, 372 So. 2d 997, 999 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) (trial court should not permit witness to remain in courtroom during trial when she is not on stand, unless it is shown that it is necessary for witness to assist counsel in trial and that no prejudice will result to accused and a hearing to determine those matters is conducted if rule sequestering witnesses was invoked --"To have it otherwise would be to emasculate the rule of exclusion and sequestration of witnesses and subject the trial courts to attack alleging collusion among witnesses."). The trial court in the instant case erred by failing to conduct a hearing to determine whether the witness' exclusion from the sequestration rule would result in prejudice to Mr. Hunter.

Mr. Hunter testified he did not commit the offenses at Terry Hardy's home (T304). The theory of the defense was that the Hardy family was angry at Mr. Hunter and they testified as they did, motivated by that anger (T345). The testimony of Terry Hardy established Mr. Hunter knew where a gun was kept in her home and had threatened Terry because he would not let him talk to Jacqueline (T135, 140, 147). Terry testified Mr. Hunter threatened her and impliedly threatened her daughter Antricia (T135). Mr. Hunter denied calling Terry, denied asking to speak to Jacqueline, and denied making threats to Terry (T302).

The prejudice to Mr. Hunter established by the testimony of Antricia was stated succinctly by the prosecutor in closing argument:

> Second of all, the defendant had made the threat just the week before that I'll get you. Terry Hardy, Terry Hardy says you can't get me. Then I'll get the thing you love the most. And what happens during the burglary? Somebody shoots into the little eight-year-old girl's bed. Who would commit a crime like that? That makes no sense except when someone that's so full of hatred, someone that's so full of jealousy that they're going to run over anyone that gets into their way, just as the defendant was. No other burglar is going to do that.

(T361). The jury was likely to see the testimony of Antricia as confirmation that Mr. Hunter committed a heinous terrifying symbolic attack on an innocent child and the prejudice of seeing Mr. Hunter in this light would affect the credibility determinations as to all the charged offenses.

This case turned on credibility. In closing, the prosecutor told the jury "You've got Jacqueline Hardy, Gwendolyn Hardy, and Terry Hardy telling you one thing and on the other end of the spectrum is Jeffrey Allen Hunter, the defendant. So, you've got to use your common sense in figuring out who's telling you the truth." (T355). The lack of a proper inquiry as to the prejudice leaves unknown what Antricia's testimony would have been had her mother not remained in the courtroom.

The trial court's abuse of discretion in allowing the witness to remain in the court room and the failure to hold a hearing on this matter require reversal for a new trial.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PREVENT-ING THE DEFENSE FROM ESTABLISHING RELEVANT EVIDENCE⁴?

The trial court granted the State's motion in limine to prevent the defense from establishing Gwendolyn Hardy, a key State's witness, had been arrested for aggravated battery of her boyfriend earlier on the evening of the incident, despite defense counsel's objection that it was relevant to Mr. Hunter's account of the incident (T164-167). The court held the prejudice would outweigh the relevance (T166-167).

The excluded testimony was relevant to give the jury the complete picture of the entire inseparable course of events. The excluded evidence would have substantiated Mr. Hunter's account of the events -- that Gwendolyn Hardy showed him paperwork concerning her release on those charges and talked to Mr. Hunter about her arrest. It would be relevant as corroboration of Mr. Hunter's assertion that the sisters invited him to visit and were very friendly to him at the onset of the incident (T165-166).

"[W]here relevant evidence tends in any way, even indirectly, to establish a reasonable doubt of defendant's guilt, it is error to deny its admission." <u>Story v. State</u>, 589 So. 2d 939, 943 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The evidence would be relevant for impeachment purposes. Reversal is required by improper limitation of cross-

⁴ This issue was originally presented as Issue II of Respondents Initial Brief on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal. As was presented in footnote 3, this Court has the authority and power to reach this issue.

examination which relates directly to the credibility of a key prosecution witness. <u>Kimble v. State</u>, 537 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). "It is error for a trial court to prohibit cross-examination when the facts sought are `germane to that witness' testimony and plausibly relevant to the theory of the defense." <u>Bertram v.</u> <u>State</u>, 637 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), <u>quoting Pace v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S. Ct. 244, 121 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1992).

The jury had two accounts of the incident at 1240 Ninth Street in Lakeland -- that of Mr. Hunter and that of Gwendolyn and Jacqueline Hardy. The determination of which account to believe necessarily turned on credibility. Reversal is required by improper limitation of cross-examination which relates directly to the credibility of a key prosecution witness. <u>Kimble v. State</u>, 537 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

"A defendant has a fundamental constitutionally protected right to present a defense. <u>Story</u>, 589 So. 2d at 943, <u>citing</u> <u>Washington v. Texas</u>, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967). Mr. Hunter's convictions should be reversed.

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SENTENC-ING THE APPELLANT TO CONSECUTIVE HABITUAL SENTENCES WHEN THE CRIMINAL ACTS WERE PART OF ONE CRIMINAL EPI-SODE⁵?

"The task of determining when a criminal episode can be denominated `single' or `separate' for purposes of consecutive minimum mandatory sentencing is not an easy one. There is no `bright line' rule to which we can refer." <u>Willis v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 220, 221 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), guoting Parker v. State, 633 So. 2d 72, 75 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). "Whether a prisoner's consecutive sentences arise from a single criminal episode is not a pure question of law. Resolution of this issue depends upon factual evidence involving the times, places, and circumstances of the offenses." Callaway v. State, 642 So. 2d 636, 639 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), affirmed 20 Fla. L. Weekly S358 (Fla. July 20, 1995). "Obviously, in determining whether a series of criminal events constitutes a single criminal episode or separate criminal episodes, the focus must be directed to the facts of each individual case." Willis, 640 So. 2d at 221, guoting Parker, 633 So. 2d at 75.

The State argued that these offenses were a "crime spree", motivated by Mr. Hunter's jealousy of Jacqueline Hardy (T40-42,

⁵ This issue was originally presented as Issue III of Respondents Initial Brief on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal. As was presented in footnote 3, this Court has the authority and power to reach this issue.

113-124, 350-377). Mr. Hunter denied being involved in the incident at Terry Hardy's home. Mr. Hunter admitted being present at the subsequent incident involving Jacqueline and Gwendolyn Hardy, but explained that the Hardy sisters asked him to come there, that Jacqueline Hardy then possessed the firearm, and that he acted in self defense when she attacked him (T291-312). The State should be estopped from seeking consecutive habitual offender sentences for what it presented at trial as a "crime spree" motivated by Mr. Hunter's jealousy, for purpose of convincing the jury to disbelieve Mr. Hunter's account of the events of that night.

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